Onley Town Council
Special Meeting
Minutes of October 15, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA

Council Members Present: Ned Finney, Mayor
Bill Ferguson, Vice-Mayor
Daniel Bloxom
Jason Campbell
Brian Corbin
Rodney Lang
Woody Zember

Staff Present: Carl Bundick, Town Attorney
E. J. Long, Chief of Police, OPD
Susan Rillo, Town Manager
Jamye Salazar, Clerk/Treasurer

Call to Order
Mayor Finney called the meeting to order at 6:00pm.

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance
The invocation was given by Vice-Mayor Ferguson. Councilman Lang led the Pledge of Allegiance.

Adoption of Agenda
Motion: To adopt the agenda by Jason Campbell and seconded by Rodney Lang. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom
-yes; Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes; Lang—yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED

Public Works Garage Construction Bid

Ms. Rillo presented Council with a new bid from JHP Construction in the amount of $16,200.00. She
noted that he has reduced the bid by $2,035.00 and removed the cost for the mini-split heating and
cooling system.

Motion: To accept the bid from JHP Construction in the amount of $16,200.00 by Brian Corbin and
seconded by Rodney Lang and Bill Ferguson. Mr. Ferguson yielded to Mr. Lang. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom -
no; Campbell — yes; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- yes; Lang— yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED

Ms. Rillo asked Mr. Bundick to get the contract for this to her as soon as possible so Mr. Patterson can
start work. Mr. Bundick agreed, stating that he can use the same one that we used for the office
renovation a couple of years ago, with a few tweaks.

Axon Invoice(s)
Ms. Rillo asked Ms. Salazar to explain the Axon invoice(s) issue. Ms. Salazar stated the following:

1. The $16,542.41 Axon invoice for the OSP/body cameras/tasers that was discussed at the
October 6, 2025, meeting was dated November 1, 2024, and for the period beginning November
1, 2024. Mr. Corbin brought this to her attention the following day. She stated that while she
noticed the date of the invoice during the meeting, she initially thought it was a typo. On
October 9, 2025, she (along with Chief Long and Ms. Rillo in attendance) contacted Axon via
telephone to get some clarification. The Axon representative stated that the original invoice was
emailed to Chief Long on November 1, 2024. Chief Long has said he did not receive the email at



Onley Town Council
Special Meeting
Minutes of October 15, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA
that time. A follow-up email with the same invoice was sent again to Chief Long on September

12, 2025. This email was received by Chief Long, and he immediately forwarded it to Ms.
Salazar. It was then presented to Council at the October 6, 2025, meeting.

2. Another invoice will be issued and due on November 1, 2025, for the same amount.
She has requested (of Axon) that in the future all invoices sent to Chief Long’s email also be sent
to her email.

4. She has requested (from Axon) and received a list of all future charges with a breakdown for
budgeting purposes. She noted that this should fulfill Mayor Finney’s request of Chief Long at

the last meeting.

5. She asked Axon for an explanation as to why we were not notified about the delinquent invoice
and was given the following explanation: Axon doesn’t normally pursue collection of delinquent
accounts for 2-3 years because some communities (especially smaller ones) need time to secure
funding. This is a direct quote from Amelia Dillard, Axon representative.

Ms. Salazar explained that we will need to amend our budget to incorporate these additional expenses.
She said that she has spoken with Mayor Finney and they both agree that this is something that we can
pursue after January 1, 2026, due to the impending holidays, if Council has no objections. She added
that we can incorporate any other budget changes that may need to be made as well. As far as a better
explanation for what happened to the original invoice last November, she will yield to Chief Long, who
has some thoughts on the matter. Chief Long stated that he does not think he ever received the original
invoice last November. He stated that he has searched his entire email account and can’t find anything
from Axon. He reminded Council that his email was hacked at that time last year. Mr. Corbin said while
he understands that things sometimes go awry, he doesn’t understand how Chief Long could have
missed the fact that we never received or paid for equipment that his department was using for almost
a year, especially such a large amount. Chief Long said he was not expecting an invoice, stating that he
thought the entire lease plan had been paid for with ARPA funds or that ARPA funds had been set aside
for that purpose. Mr. Corbin said that he thinks Chief Long needs to be more proactive with this kind of
thing, namely contracts that we have entered with companies that require large payments. He said he
knows that the mayor has asked Chief Long for some things in the past and there has been no response.
He added that we have spent a boat load of money on things for your department. Mr. Bloxom said he
thought that all of this was paid in advance with ARPA funds. Ms. Rillo said that she thinks that the
minutes reflect that, but it is a little ambiguous. Ms. Salazar said that she believes that this was during
the time that we may have had some other people working here and she came in and helped
occasionally. She added that she was never the “ARPA” person as her knowledge of such was limited.
She then read the motion from the September 8, 2022, meeting pertaining to this purchase: “To
authorize Lt. Long to purchase the equipment (587,184.00} in its entirety if ARPA funds can be used, if
not, we amend the list to purchase the most needed items by Bill Ferguson and seconded by Brian
Corbin.”

Ms. Salazar told Council that she sat down with the entire future billing projection yesterday and
determined what funds will be needed for the next 2-3 years because Chief Long was concerned that
there would be follow-up invoice due to the purchase of the fifth patrol car. She does believe that we
have concrete numbers at this time. Mr. Bloxom asked that we enact a policy that we require paper
billing and not electronic. Ms. Salazar said we can request that of businesses, but she is not sure that we
can demand it. Chief Long stated that moving forward, he will make sure that Ms. Salazaris cc’d on all
emails containing invoices for police department purchases. Mr. Campbell said he was not here (as well



Onley Town Council
Special Meeting
Minutes of October 15, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA
as many others) in 2022 when this contract was entered into, but he remembers hearing publicly that
ARPA funds were being used for these purchases. He said if that wasn’t the case, he would like to know
where the money went. Ms. Salazar stated that she can provide him with the ARPA budget that proves
where/how every dollar was spent. She does believe that a large portion of the ARPA funds were
“3llocated” to the police department. She added that the entire amount was spent by Chief Long and all
purchases would have been approved by Council. She said she has been unable to read all of the
minutes or listen to the audio from every meeting going back to 2022 so she can only assume (based on
the way the motion was made) that Council learned that the entire 5-year plan could not be paid for
upfront, considering the money was then spent on other things for the police department. Mr. Campbell
said it sounds like we decided to spend a lot more money over the next five years than we had
budgeted. Ms. Salazar said that Mr. Campbell is correct and that is really the whole issue at this point -
we did not put money in our operating budget to cover these costs. She added that she certainly did not
know about this and her understanding is that Chief Long didn’t know either. Mr. Corbin said the ARPA
funds had to be spent by December 31, 2024, so he doesn’t see how we could have paid for something
years in advance or set aside ARPA funds for that purpose. Mr. Campbell said that the issue is that no
one (in this room) knew that we owed this money. Mr. Campbell stated that he is not saying that he
thinks the money was misspent but it is a shame that we are left with this debt. Mr. Corbin said he
disagrees that it is true debt because we don’t own this stuff — it is a lease. He added that while he can’t
immediately remember back that far, Council was obviously told that this lease came with a 5-year plan
when they approved it. Mr. Lang said this has been what he has been saying since we initially agreed to
purchase all this equipment. He added that once the ARPA money was spent, the funds for any
additional costs are going to come from the town’s pockets. Mr. Bundick asked if it is possible to get
credit from Axon for the two units that we are currently not using due to the reduction in our police
force. Chief Long said that it is not possible since we would need to uninstall the equipment and return
it. He added that he is hoping to have those positions filled soon.
Council agreed to come back and amend the budget in January.
Mr. Corbin asked if the 2024 invoice has been paid. Ms. Salazar said that it has since it was approved at
the October 6" meeting. She added that it has been charged to the equipment expense line item for
now. Mr. Bloxom asked if we should pay the November 2025 invoice before we amend the budget in
January. Ms. Salazar said that is a decision that Council will need to make. She added that while we are
not in the habit of paying our bills late, obviously Axon will allow us to wait, without a penalty or
interest. She suggested that Council think about it and make a final decision at the November meeting.
Council agreed. Mr. Campbell said that moving forward, we should remember that Axon will allow you
to purchase equipment outright and you're not stuck in a lease program. The downside is that we would
be responsible for additional cartridges, support, etc. Mayor Finney likes that idea. Mr. Bloxom asked if
we could buy the equipment at the end of the lease. Mr. Campbell said he thinks so, but we would have
to pay for maintenance and things that may “pop up.”

Closed Session
Motion: To go into Closed Session (6:29pm) in accordance with Section 2.2-3711(A) of the Code of

Virginia of 1950, as amended for the purpose of Paragraph 1: Discussion or consideration of personnel
matters pertaining to the Onley Police Department, specifically related to an employee’s job
performance by Daniel Bloxom and seconded by Rodney Lang. Roll Call Vote: Bloxom -no; Campbell —
no; Corbin- yes; Ferguson- no; Lang—yes; Zember - no. MOTION FAILED



Onley Town Council
Special Meeting
Minutes of October 15, 2025
Onley Town Office, 25308 Lankford Highway, Onley, VA
Adjourn
Motion: To adjourn (6:31pm) by Jason Campbell and seconded by Daniel Bloxom. Roll Call Vote:
Bloxom -yes; Campbell — yes; Corbin- no; Ferguson- yes; Lang- yes; Zember - yes. MOTION PASSED

Respectfully submitted,

CMeSlnd

lamye L. Salazar, Clerk/Treasurer

\Mf"“g/ é; \Méf/

Henry E. Finney, Mayor



